NYS Department of State

Contact Management Tool and Implementation Services Opportunity
RFP 17-ADM-24

Questions & Answers

The responses to questions included herein are the official responses by the State to questions submitted by potential bidders and are hereby incorporated into RFP #17-ADM-24 issues on August 24, 2017.  In the event of any conflict between the RFP and these responses, the requirements or information contained in these responses will prevail.



1. Was this intended to be submitted blindly to us or did you intend it to go to a specific individual in our company?
A:  This solicitation was publicized in the NYS Contract Reporter as well as to the list of Salesforce partners who provide government service to ensure wide distribution and invitation for competition.  

2.  If is was intended to be submitted blindly to us, who referred you to our company?
A: This solicitation was publicized in the NYS Contract Reporter as well as to the list of Salesforce partners who provide government service to ensure wide distribution and invitation for competition.  

3. Do you know who your Account Executive is at salesforce.com?
A: This information is not necessary for responding to the Solicitation.

4.  What is DOS’ current email platform (MS Office, etc.) and would integration of existing contacts with that platform be in scope?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

5. Would contact history include tracking all email correspondence with a contact?
	A:   Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

6. Does DOS intend on doing outreach email blasts to contacts? If so, what would be the anticipated volume on a monthly basis and does DOS have a preferred outbound email tool?
	A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

7. If a Cloud Services Provider offers encryption of data in transmission and the ability to encrypt selected fields, will this meet DOS cybersecurity requirements?
	A:  Please see Solicitation Section 5.3(70), Encryption.


8. We understand that New York State cybersecurity requirements must utilize cloud-based solutions that hold a FedRAMP Authority to Operate (ATO) at the moderate impact level for SaaS/PaaS. Can DOS clarify if this is a requirement?
	A:  Please see Solicitation Section 5.3(64), Security Policies and Notifications, among other provisions in Solicitation Section 5.3, Additional Provisions, that relate to security.  

9. Does DOS have a requirement to send out mass email to more than 1,000 external email addresses a day as part of the solution?
	A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   
10. What system is currently in place to track and manage contacts?
	A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

11. What is the business definition of ‘contacts’? Are contacts individuals working for organizations or are they individual citizens?
	A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

12. What is the format of the data?  CSV, XML, a live database, etc.?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

13. What is the approximate size of the data?  Will additional security protocols be required to transfer this data?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

14. Will the data need to be sanitized, filtered, or de-duplicated before import?  If so, what is the estimated complexity of this cleanup effort?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

15. Does the import data contain any unconventional data types, such as binary attachments or formula fields?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

16. Are there multiple sets of data (e.g. Contacts and Accounts) or is there only one data file?  If there are multiple data sets, are they from different data sources?
A:   Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

17. When uploading additional contacts beyond the initial 100,000 records, will this data file contain only the additions/deltas, or will it also include the original set of 100,000 contacts again?
A:  When uploading additional records, it is likely that an original set or part of an original set of initial records could be included.

18. Does downloading of data mean certain records or set of records? What file type is expected of the downloads?
A:   Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

19. How many "address" fields are in the data file?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

20. How many "phone" fields are in the data file?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

21. How many "email" fields are in the data file?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

22. Are there any fields that will be defined by a restricted picklist?  If so, please confirm the list of valid values for these fields will be provided.
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

23. How many multiple addresses do you desire for each contact?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

24. What will be the main usage for contact addresses? (e.g. mapping, search, mailings)
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

25. Is ‘Contract Phone Number’ a typo for ‘Contact Phone Number’?
A:  Contact phone number is correct.  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

26. What is meant for Contact History? A history of past communication with the contact or an audit trail of data value changes to the record?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

27. Are ‘Follow-Up Items’ manually tracked or automated reminders?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

28. Please clarify ‘Schedule Management’ – Is this for scheduling events or integration with the user’s calendar? (such as Outlook)
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

29. The mention of ‘State resource assigned to the Contact’ – does this indicate DOS would like some type of case management functionality in the tool?  
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

30. Does DOS need reports generated through the tagging of contacts?  Or is this just for visual needs?
A:  DOS requires reports generated through tagging of contacts.

31. Does DOS need the ability to create ad hoc reports?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   


32. DOS needs the ability to track when a user downloads data and/or a report?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

33. Will this tool need to be integrated/interfaced to other systems? If so how many and what are their primary functions?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

34. Does DOS envision the tool to be in use for five years? Is there a roadmap for the tool and timeline? 
A:  Please see RFP section 1.3, Contract Term, which provides for one year with 4 optional renewals.  

35. Please confirm the implementation duration for the Contact Management Tool. In the RFP, different duration have been mentioned under following sections e.g. 
C. Project Approach, Platform, and Timeline -> "DOS prefers an expedited implementation of the selected Tool with a goal to complete the initial implementation no more than 3 weeks after the authorization to start work"  
A:  Please see revised RFP sections 1.2, Services Required and 2.1.C.2 which require the Initial Implementation to be completed in three week.          

36. License cost for 50 users is requested under "Required Implementation Services (Initial)" section. This is also mentioned under "Required Platform Costs (Contract Year 1)". Please confirm if the License cost for 50 users still needs to be included in under "Required Implementation Services (Initial)" section?
A:  Yes, the license cost for 50 users must be included. Please see the Revised Appendix E.  

37. Our understanding is that the Not-to-exceed total Year 1 cost to include following, 
1) Implementation cost for year 1
2) License cost for year 1
3) Platform/Additional License Cost for Yr1
4) Support Cost for year 1
5) Optional Additional Implementation Services
Please confirm if this is correct?
#3 can be provided as cost per license
#5 can be provided as rate per hour
Please confirm if above assumptions are correct?
A:  Please see Section 2.2, Cost Proposal and revised Appendix E.     As stated in revised Appendix E, the Required Platform and Implementation Costs shall include License Costs for Year 1, Support for Year 1, Other Platform Related Cost for the Initial Implementation, and Required Implementation Services for the Initial Implementation.  DOS shall have the option to purchase additional licenses and services during the term of the contract at the rates proposed for Optional Additional Licenses and Implementation Services.

38. What is the level/complexity of deduplication expected to be performed as part of data migration of the 100k records?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

39. What is/are the data sources for these 100,000 records? Will the contractors have access if it is a database or will all data be in excel/csv?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

40. Will contractors have access to setup staging area and backup database for salesforce data in the DOS’s existing servers/databases?
A:  No all backups must be maintained by the vendor offsite.  

41. Is DOS open to use a data integration tool that works with SaaS application (for data loading and data backup) if the cost of license is nominal?
A:  Yes, if it meets data requirements related to deduplicating. The cost for this tool must be included in the Cost Proposal.

42. Will the help and training and support tools provided by the SaaS vendor satisfy the requirements for online support?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

43. Can the contractor leverage the extensive training resource material provided by the SaaS vendor to meet the needs of the training documentation?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

44. Is it correct to understand that the support work would start after the first production deployment? 
• If it is so where can we enter the cost for this in the cost proposal? Current format requests support starting from Year 2 only.
• Also can the support cost be provided in hourly rates and anticipated number of hours?
• Can the support cost be included in the not-to-exceed total year one cost?
A:  Yes,   all Year 1 support must be included in the 1st year pricing consistent with the instruction in the revised Appendix E.   Pursuant to Section 2.2, Cost Proposal, “Proposals with a fee format different from the format indicated in Appendix E will be deemed non-responsive and the entire proposal will not be considered for evaluation or award.”  

45. What are the integration points envisioned for the system? Can DOS provide the number of integration points and their complexity?
• Is DOS open to use AppExchange apps for email management?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

46. Can sample data from existing system be provided for
· Contact
· Contact Affiliation 
· Contact Address 
· Event 
· User defined fields 
· Tagging fields 
A:  DOS does not currently maintain a similar database system so sample data will not be provided.  A description of the data is included throughout the scope and contains no irregular file or character types. 
47. Platform - Are you open for a rapidly developed custom application using Oracle technologies?
A:    All proposals will be evaluated in accordance with the RFP.

48. Can you provide more details about integration requirements?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   
49. Required Platform Cost 1st Year and Implementation Services, and total cost - The tables are confusing. Can you please clarify or modify tables?
A:  Please see revised Appendix E.  Pursuant to Section 2.2, Cost Proposal, “Proposals with a fee format different from the format indicated in Appendix E will be deemed non-responsive and the entire proposal will not be considered for evaluation or award.”  

50. We would like to if New York minority certifications are mandatory.
	A:  No, certification as a NYS Minority or Women owned Business Enterprise is not required for submitting a proposal.  Certification as a NYS Minority or Women Owned Business Enterprise is required under §2.1(E), Technical Proposal, for subcontractors having such status.

51. Salesforce, the #1 CRM tool in the world does not provide their own professional services but rather relies on the expertise of their trusted and completely vetted Solutions Integration partners or SI's.  I am curious to know if you would still be interested in working with us?
	A:  SI’s or equivalents are welcome to propose solutions to this solicitation.  

52. Would the DOS please elaborate on its contact management use-cases? How many categories of “outside parties” does the Department want to track? How many of these categories are unique, in that they require capturing unique attributes? 
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

53. Did DOS use a vendor or contractor to help develop the RFP? If so, can you please share the name of the vendor/contractor?
A:  DOS did not use a vendor to develop this RFP.

54. Has a budget been defined for this Project effort? If so, what is that budget?
a. Annual License Cost
b. Implementation 
A:  A budget has not been defined for this project.  The solicitation considers cost to be an evaluation criteria.  See Solicitation Section 3.3, Evaluation and Scoring.  Pursuant to Section 2.2, Cost Proposal, “Proposals with a fee format different from the format indicated in Appendix E will be deemed non-responsive and the entire proposal will not be considered for evaluation or award.”  

55. We are a software implementation firm, not a reseller. How does DOS intend to purchase their Salesforce licenses?
A:  This solicitation is for all of the licensing maintenance and implementation.  See Solicitation Section 1.2, Services Required.  

56. On Page 4, DOS requests that the service “include daily backup of all data performed by the vendor. The backup must be done overnight”. As a cloud solution Salesforce has a specific and robust data backup policy. DOS has the additional option of devising its own backup solution, typically performed via a 3rd party backup (either Cloud to Cloud, or Cloud to Local). Would the DOS like this proposal to include a 3rd party backup solution at an additional cost? 
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.    There are no requirements for additional third party backups or security.  Vendor selected is responsible for all data management and security terms in the solicitation.   

57. Other than training, does the DOS desire to have any other part of the engagement on-site?
A:  No.

58. Will DOS provide a list of reports that will need to be built? Or, an estimated count of reports would be helpful if a list is not available.
A:  Please see the Sorting and Reporting portion of Section 1.2, Services Required, 

59. The DOS indicates its initial implementation expectations are 3 weeks, yet states that the engagement is expected to continue for a period of one year. Please elaborate on other services expected to be provided over the course of the year. Beyond initial implementation and training / coaching, would the Department like a proposal for a support contract?
A:  The Initial Implementation must be completed in three weeks.  Then licenses and support are expected to continue for a year.  

60. Is the DOS replacing an existing software solution?
A: Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

61. In our experience, contact management solutions also require the ability to segment contacts and send them emails. Is that a requirement of this RFP and if so will you be procuring licenses for Salesforce Marketing Cloud Email?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

62. What format(s) are the existing contact data in? Is the data standardized?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

63. Does DOS have personnel that will be able to assist in the data cleansing of legacy data prior to the data migration into the new system?
A:  Yes, however vendor is responsible for all the implementation points in the RFP.  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

64. Does DOS require any integration to third party systems? If so, please list them.
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

65. How many users will participate in initial training?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

66. Would DOS prefer direct user training, or a train-the-trainer model?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

67. Will DOS provide a list of the departments that will be directly impacted by the implementation (how many departments represent the user-base)?
A:  One department will be impacted by implementation.

68. We have references from a number of our clients, in a number of different formats. Usually this is in the form of a written endorsement on the Salesforce AppExchange. Additionally, some clients have provided reference “forms” as a post project review from their agencies. Would these formats be sufficient? Perhaps in conjunction with contact information? We try to be very cautious about our clients’ time.
A:  Reference letters should meet the requirements of RFP section 2.1.F.

69. Are there IT security and deployment policies that we will need to adhere to before moving to production? Please provide specific details or advise if we can assume industry best practices.
A:  RFP section 5.3(63)-(72) detail the security requirements and relevant policies.  Other security related issues are in the document associated with data management.  Vendor is responsible for all security measures and compliance in the document.   

70. Salesforce is a browser-based interface that works best with modern web browsers including the latest versions of Chrome, Firefox, Safari and Edge. Microsoft Internet Explorer 11 is being phased out. Will user computers be able to support this requirement?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

71. Please clarify how DOS expects to receive the electronic copies of the responses. Flash drive included in package of hard copies?  Uploaded to a state site?
A:  The solicitation does not specify format, but the electronic version must be submitted with the hard copy submission, consistent with Appendix F.  

72. How many consultants are needed on site vs. off-site?
A:  Consultants needed for on-site work are required for user training.  All other work can be done off site as long as data storage requirements are adhered to as indicated in the RFP.

73. What type of contract is this going to be? Firm Fixed Price, Time and Materials, Labor Hour, etc.
A:  Revised Appendix E Cost Proposals requests pricing for all year one services along with pricing for additional license and services.  The contract will be consistent with the solicitation costing proposal.  Pursuant to Section 2.2, Cost Proposal, “Proposals with a fee format different from the format indicated in Appendix E will be deemed non-responsive and the entire proposal will not be considered for evaluation or award.”  

74. What is the estimated budget?
A:  A budget has not been defined for this project.  The solicitation considers cost to be an evaluation criteria.  See Solicitation Section 3.3, Evaluation and Scoring.  Pursuant to Section 2.2, Cost Proposal, “Proposals with a fee format different from the format indicated in Appendix E will be deemed non-responsive and the entire proposal will not be considered for evaluation or award.”  

75. It is stated that 50 to 53 licenses will be required.  Are the licenses for internal users only?  
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

76. Will there any external users to the system?  If so will the external users need portal access?  What would be the base of the external users?  How often would an external user have to log in?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

77. Is DOS using any cloud platform currently?
A:  Not for contact management.  



78. Would DOS share a sample of the reporting structure?
A:  DOS does not have a current contact system so reporting will be defined during implementation.   Please see Section 1.2 Sorting and Reporting

79. When building out the system does the consultant(s) need to be on-site at DOS full time or will the consultant(s) be able to work both on and off site to complete the project.
A:  Consultants needed for on-site work are required for user training.  All other work can be done off site as long as data storage requirements are adhered to as indicated in the RFP.

80. Once the contracting firm receives an authorization to begin work is the 3-week implementation a hard date of completion?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

81. Is this system only expected to be used for record keeping purposes or would it be used in conjunction with a Sales, Support or a Marketing Process? If yes, what process would the system be used for?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

82. What kind of file storage volume is expected?
- Size of the files
- Type of files
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

83. How is new Contact information expected to flow into the CRM? Manual data entry or through automation from an external system?
A:  Data flow from an email tool is expected to flow automatically.  New contacts or contact value modifications may also be made manually by licensed users.

84. Is there any Contact information that is expected to be encrypted for Regular Users?
A:  No.

85. Would the stored contact Users expected to update their personal information by logging in through a Self Service Portal?
A:  No.

86. Is the mobile app expected to support offline capability?
A:  DOS prefers the database to have offline capability.

87. Is Salesforce authentication and login expected to happen through SSO? What would be the preferred authentication provider? Microsoft Active Directory, Google, Facebook etc.
A:  Vendor is expected to provide standalone authentication, without regard for SSO or other preferred authentication.  Security may be through token, RSA or other security process that meets required security terms in the solicitation 

88. [bookmark: _GoBack]What is the volume of the historical data expected to be loaded into Salesforce as a part of the initial system setup?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.  

89. What is the current system that the client is using to manage this data?
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

90. Is initial training for end users expected to be delivered in-person in NYC or Albany? Can Coaching of users be done online over time?
A:  Initial training is anticipated to be delivered in-person in Albany.  

91. We (vendor)would take ownership of procuring any licenses recommended to be procured as a part of the proposed solution for the client. Please confirm if our understanding is otherwise
A:  Please see revised RFP section 1.2, Services Required.   

92. Are there any specific requirements associated with the YoY support? If yes, please state them clearly.
- Support location (Onsite / Offshore)
- Offshore Shift Requirements (Support Model (16x5, 24x5, 24x7), Shift Time)
- SLA
A:  Section 5.3 (52.D), (66.d) and (72) outline the required support and maintenance.  All support and maintenance is required to be not diminished throughout the life of the contract including any extensions, consistent with section 63. 

93. Do we need US public sector references?
A:  Yes.
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